
Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 3, 2023 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

If you have special needs or circumstances which may make communication or accessibility difficult at 
the meeting, please call (920) 397-9901.  Accommodations will, to the fullest extent possible, be made 

available on request by a person with a disability. 

AGENDA 

1. Call meeting to order

2. Roll call

3. Public Hearing – None

4. Public Comment: The City Council will receive comments from City residents. Comments
are generally limited to three minutes per individual. Anyone wishing to speak is required
to sign up in advance or state the following items for the record when called upon:
name, address, subject matter, and contact information. No action will be taken on any
public comments unless the item is also elsewhere on the agenda.

5. Consent Agenda: The Consent Agenda outlined below is hereby presented for action by
the City Council. Items may be removed from the Consent Agenda on the request of any
one Council member. Items not removed may be adopted by one action without debate.
Removed items may be taken up either immediately after the Consent Agenda or placed
later on the agenda at the discretion of the Council President.

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09 
Meeting ID: 599 786 6403 

Passcode: 53538 

Dial by Location 
+1 312 626 6799

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/5997866403?pwd=alcreldSbGpNUVI1VnR1RWF5bXovdz09


a. Review and possible action relating to the amended minutes of the December 
14, 2022 License Committee meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 20, 2022 
regular Fort Atkinson City Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance 
Director) 
 

6. Petitions, Requests, and Communications – None  
 

7. Resolutions and Ordinances – None 
 

8. Reports of Officers, Boards, and Committees: 
 

a. City Manager’s Report (LeMire, City Manager)  
 

9. Unfinished Business – None 
 

10. New Business: 
 

a. Review and possible action relating to authorization for City staff to issue a 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for the design of a new Public Works Operations 
Facility (Williamson, Public Works Superintendent) 

b. Review and possible action relating to the purchase of properties east of the 
existing Public Works Operations Facility to accommodate the design and future 
construction of a new facility (Williamson, Public Works Superintendent)  

c. Review and possible action relating to the issuance of a Reserve “Class B” 
Intoxicating Liquor License for the license year January 3, 2023 through June 30, 
2023 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  

 
11. Miscellaneous – None 

 
12. Claims, Appropriations and Contract Payments: 

 
a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the 

Director of Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert, 
Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

 

13. Adjournment 
 
Date Posted: December 29, 2022 
 
CC: City Council; City Staff; City Attorney; News Media; Fort Atkinson School District; Fort Atkinson 
Chamber of Commerce 
 



Visit us online! City news and information can be found at www.fortatkinsonwi.gov, and be sure to 
follow us on Facebook @FortAtkinsonWI. 
 
Note the City’s new .gov domain name and new phone numbers. Visit our website for more 
information.  

http://www.fortatkinsonwi.gov/


Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Clerk/Treasurer’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 
LICENSE COMMITTEE MEETING 

IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 
WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 14, 2022 – 6:30 PM 

CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 
~~AMENDED~~ 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
President Scherer called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Present: Cm. Johnson, Cm. Schultz and President Scherer.  Also present: City Manager and City
Clerk/Treasurer.

3. REVIEW AND POSSIBLE RECOMMENDATION TO THE CITY COUNCIL RELATING TO
ORIGINAL ALCOHOL BEVERAGE RETAIL LICENSE APPLICATION FOR A RESERVE “CLASS B”
INTOXICATING LIQUOR FOR THE LICENSING PERIOD OF JANUARY 3, 2023 THROUGH JUNE
30, 2023. (EBBERT)

Clerk Ebbert began with providing the background of the 1997 action taken by the Department 
of Revenue to place a quote on “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor licenses.  Ebbert indicated the 
notice of the available license was published in the local newspaper, posted on the City’s 
website and mailed to interested parties.  The application process included submission of the 
following forms: Original Alcohol Beverage License Retail Application, Auxiliary Questionnaire, 
Schedule for Appointment of Agent by Corporation or Limited Liability Company, Federal 
Identification Number (documentation required confirming the number), Wisconsin Seller’s 
Permit Number (documentation required confirming the number) and City of Fort Atkinson 
Reserve License Questionnaire.  Clerk Ebbert transferred information provided on the 
questionnaire into a table which was provided to the License Committee.   

The following entities applied for the available license and were given an opportunity to 
present their submission to the License Committee: PaddyShack LLC d/b/a PaddyShack Golf and 
Gaming Lounge, Mr. Brews Taphouse VIII, LLC d/b/a Mr. Brews Taphouse, Rock River Heritage, 
Inc d/b/a The Fort Atkinson Club Community Center. 

The License Committee continued discussion on the applicants. 

Cm. Schultz moved to recommend to City Council to issue a Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating 
Liquor License for the licensing period of January 3, 2023 through June 30, 2023 to Mr. Brews 
Taphouse VIII, LLC d/b/a Mr. Brews Taphouse. Pres Scherer seconded the motion. Motion 
carried 2-1, Cm. Johnson opposed the motion.  

4. ADJOURNMENT



Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 7:55 pm.  
 
Respectfully submitted 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 
 
 
 



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Clerk/Treasurer’s 
Office 101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

IN PERSON AND VIA ZOOM 
TUESDAY, DECEMBER 20, 2022 – 7:00 PM 

CITY HALL – SECOND FLOOR 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER
President Scherer called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm.

2. ROLL CALL
Present: Cm. Hartwick, Cm. Johnson, Cm. Schultz and President Scherer. Also present: City
Manager, City Clerk/Treasurer, City Attorney, City Engineer, Building Inspector, Park &
Recreation Director and Fire Chief. Cm. Becker joined via zoom and in person at 7:40 pm.

3. PUBLIC HEARINGS:
a) Public Hearing relating to State and Federal Aid for the improvements at the Fort Atkinson
Municipal Airport (Selle, City Engineer/Public Works Director)
Engineer Selle provided a presentation to the City Council, in person and zoom attendees
regarding the Fort Atkinson Airport. The presentation included a maintenance list of crackfill,
sealcoat and restripe the runway, approach and taxiways in 2023 and improvements to the
beacon, airfield lighting, apron lighting and sign upgrades. Noted capital investments were new
construction of a hangar/terminal building/FBO facilities, potential land acquisition, snow
removal equipment and potential runway expansion. Finally, Selle included what an airport
master plan could provide by identifying and describing future changes in usage that would
justify additions/enhancements to airport facility. Selle also noted funding sources including
Annual Federal Entitlement Block Grant, COVID funding, Bipartisan Instructure Bill (BIL) and
discretionary funding.

President Scherer opened the Public Hearing at 7:10 pm. 

After three calls and no comments from those in person or via zoom, the Public Hearing was 
closed at 7:11 pm.  

No action required. 

b) Public Hearing relating to contract modifications and the fare schedule changes for the
Shared Ride Taxi Service in the City of Fort Atkinson. (Selle, City Engineer/Public Works Director)
Engineer Selle presented a summary regarding the loss of agency fare revenue and a driver
shortage. He also noted the Federal Subsidy that was increased in 2020 and 2021 to pay for the
entire expense of operating the taxi service. In 2022, the subsidy increased to 74% from the
typical 56% covering all expenses for the contract. In 2023, the federal subsidy will return to
56%. The contract for the shared ride program will experience a reduction of contract hours



from 15,900 to 9,000 hours, an increase in hourly rate for reduced contract service hours, an 
across the board fare increase on average 61% and reduced service hours will required the 
service schedule to change eliminating late night on Friday and Saturday evenings. A taxi will be 
available 6 am to 7 pm weekdays, 7 am to 7 pm Saturday and 7 am to 3 pm on Sunday.  

 
President Scherer opened the Public Hearing at 7:29 pm. 
 
Rob Martin, 409 Nadig Drive – he asked if the City of Jefferson contracts with the same taxi 
service as Fort Atkinson as he suggested cost sharing for the services.  He also asked what the 
current rate of pay is for the drivers. Selle believes the rate of pay is around $10 per hour.  
Martin feels ridership will decrease with the schedule cutting and increase in fee. He would like 
the Council to consider other options and find a better solution.  Cm. Hartwick if he has any 
solutions or suggestions. Martin suggested working with the City of Jefferson.  Cm. Hartwick 
stated that each municipality has a separate contract with the company.  
 
Cm. Johnson asked if the wages could be adjusted. Selle stated we cannot request or set the 
wages for the taxi drivers. Selle stated that revenue has to be generated to operate this 
program.  The 2023 budget does not include funds to operate the program.  
 
The Public Hearing was closed at 7:39 pm. 
 
No action required.  

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT:  
Rob Martin, 409 Nadig Drive commented on the increase for property taxes for the City of Fort 
Atkinson. He spoke on comments from online social media. He made reference to a ‘gold-
plated’ ambulance and part-time employee wage increases.  He also commented on those on 
fixed incomes that cannot afford various things. He feels people will be financially ruined due to 
tax increases.  
 
Erin and Mitch Patterson, 1505 Stacy Lane addressed the Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor 
License available and advocated for their business, PaddyShack to be approved and issued the 
license at the Council’s January meeting. They stated that their entertainment venue will focus 
on downtown revitalization, provide employment opportunities and make a positive economic 
impact. 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA:  
a. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 6, 2022 regular City 

Council meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
b. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 8, 2022 Transportation 

and Traffic Review Committee meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
c. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 13, 2022 Plan 

Commission meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 
d. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 14, 2022 Sex Offender 

Residence Board meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 



e. Review and possible action relating to the minutes of the December 14, 2022 License 
Committee meeting (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

f. Review and possible action relating to building, plumbing, and electrical permit report for 
November 2022 (Draeger, Building Inspector/Zoning Administrator) 

g. Review and possible action relating to the City Clerk-issued License and Permit Report for 
November 2022 (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director) 

h. City Sewer, Water, and Stormwater Utility Financial Statements as of November 30, 2022 
(Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  

Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the Consent Agenda as listed, items 
5.a. through 5.g. Motion carried.  

 
6. PETITIONS, REQUESTS, AND COMMUNICATIONS – NONE  

 
7. RESOLUTIONS AND ORDINANCES: 
a. Review and possible action relating to a Resolution Petitioning the Secretary of 

Transportation for Airport Improvement Aid and the Agency Agreement and Federal Block 
Grant Owner Assurances (Selle, City Engineer/Public Works Director) 

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to adopt the resolution petitioning the Secretary 
of Transportation for Airport Improvement Aid and to approve the agency agreement and 
Federal Block Grant Owner Assurances. Motion carried unanimously.  

 
b. Review and possible action relating to a Resolution Urging Legislature and Governor to Fix 

Broke System of Funding Critical Local Services (LeMire, City Manager) 
Manager LeMire noted as the City of Fort Atkinson is a member of the League with City’s 
Elected Officials and staff members becoming more active and engaged with the League over 
the past several years, including attendance and speaking engagements at various events and 
conferences as well as supporting the League’s legislative agenda. LeMire discussed the 
resolution in response to the property tax revenue that is limited by “levy limits” imposed by 
state law. This law limits the local government’s ability to increase property tax revenue to the 
percentage of net new construction for the prior year. In 2022, the City’s net new construction 
number was .34%, which equated to an allowable levy increase of $22,067.58. Several of the 
City’s contracted services, such as garbage and recycling collection, are tied to the increase in 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and increased more than the City’s allowable levy increase.  
LeMire continued noting that statutes allow for local governments to borrow funds outside of 
the levy limit and to seek voter approval for an increase in property taxes through the 
referendum process. The City of Fort Atkinson took both of these steps in 2022, which are 
reflected in the 2022 tax bills mailed out on December 15th (due in 2023). However, borrowing 
is not an appropriate way to fund annual operations; and the approved public safety 
referendum amount ($769,335) will not ever increase. 

 
President Scherer moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to adopt the resolution urging the 
Legislature and Governor to Fix the Broke System of Funding Critical Local Services and direct 
the City Manager to share the signed document with the League and the City’s local Legislators. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 



8. REPORTS OF OFFICERS, BOARDS, AND COMMITTEES: 
a. City Manager’s Report (LeMire, City Manager)  
No action required. 

 
9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS – NONE  

 
10. NEW BUSINESS: 
a. Review and possible action to authorize the City Manager to execute the 2023 Joint Powers 

Agreement with Jefferson County for the County 911 Emergency System (LeMire, City 
Manager)  

Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to authorize the City Manager to execute the 
2023 Joint Powers Agreement with Jefferson County for the County 911 Emergency System. 
Motion carried.  

 
b. Review and possible action to approve the contract modifications for the Shared Ride Taxi 

Service in the City of Fort Atkinson (Selle, City Engineer/Public Works Director) 
Engineer Selle reflected on the modifications noted during the Public Hearing.  
 
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the noted changes to the shared 
ride taxi contract with Running Inc. for 2023 including the service schedule noted, hourly 
contract rate for service at $36.73, and reduction in total contract hours to 9,000. Motion 
carried.  

 
c. Review and possible action to approve the Fare Schedule for the shared ride taxi service 

(Selle, City Engineer/Public Works Director) 
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the increased Fare Schedule as noted 
for the Shared Ride Taxi Service in the City of Fort Atkinson. Motion carried.  

 
d. Review and possible action relating to a Rural Ambulance Agreement between the City of 

Fort Atkinson and the Town of Hebron for 2023-2025 (LeMire, City Manager) 
Manager LeMire addressed agenda items #d - #h regarding ambulance service to the 
surrounding townships of Fort Atkinson. This service will begin 2023 through 2025.  The rate 
per capita will be $7.22 with a minimum annual increase of 2% and a maximum annual increase 
of 6%. 
 
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to approve the Rural Ambulance Agreement 
between the City of Fort Atkinson and the Town of Hebron for 2023-2025. Motion carried.  

 
e. Review and possible action relating to a Rural Ambulance Agreement between the City of 

Fort Atkinson and the Town of Jefferson for 2023-2025 (LeMire, City Manager) 
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the Rural Ambulance Agreement 
between the City of Fort Atkinson and the Town of Jefferson for 2023-2025. Motion carried.  

 
f. Review and possible action relating to a Rural Ambulance Agreement between the City of 

Fort Atkinson and the Town of Koshkonong for 2023-2025 (LeMire, City Manager) 



Cm. Schultz moved, seconded by Cm. Johnson to approve the Rural Ambulance Agreement 
between the City of Fort Atkinson and the Town of Koshkonong for 2023-2025. Motion carried.  

 
g. Review and possible action relating to a Rural Ambulance Agreement between the City of 

Fort Atkinson and the Town of Oakland for 2023-2025 (LeMire, City Manager) 
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the Rural Ambulance Agreement 
between the City of Fort Atkinson and the Town of Oakland for 2023-2025. Motion carried.  

 
h. Review and possible action relating to a Rural Ambulance Agreement between the City of 

Fort Atkinson and the Town of Sumner for 2023-2025 (LeMire, City Manager) 
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Schultz to approve the Rural Ambulance Agreement 
between the City of Fort Atkinson and the Town of Sumner for 2023-2025. Motion carried.  

 
11. MISCELLANEOUS – NONE 

 
12. CLAIMS, APPROPRIATIONS AND CONTRACT PAYMENTS: 
a. Review and possible action relating to the Verified Claims presented by the Director of 

Finance and authorization of payment (Ebbert, Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director)  
Cm. Becker moved, seconded by Cm. Hartwick to approve the list of Verified Claims and 
authorize payment. Motion carried.  
 
13. ADJOURNMENT 
Cm. Hartwick moved, seconded by Cm. Becker to adjourn. Meeting adjourned at 8:20 pm. 
 
Respectfully submitted 
 
 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
 



Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: January 3, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Tom Williamson, Public Works Superintendent 

RE: Review and possible action relating to authorization for staff to issue a Request 
for Proposals for the design of a new Public Works Facility 

BACKGROUND 
The City Council, at the November 15, 2022 meeting, reviewed the Engberg Anderson 
Architects preparation of two Public Works Facility Concept Plans on two different locations: 
the existing Public Works Facility Campus at 700 James Place and the Loeb Lorman site at 115 
Lorman Street.  

Council Members raised several questions and requested additional data relating to the 
improvements needed at the existing facility to allow its use for the next several years to 
accommodate the time constraints of the Lorman site. Other discussion items included short-
term facility needs to maintain use during on-site redevelopment, possible street vacation, and 
adjacent lands acquisition. At this meeting, staff recommended that the Council move forward 
with the new facility on the existing site because the Lorman location does not meet the needs 
and timeline for the design and construction of a new facility.  

DISCUSSION 
Staff has worked closely with Engberg Anderson Architects to coordinate two prepared concept 
plans and construction cost estimates. The plans were prepared to allow for proper evaluation 
of the Existing Facility Campus, and the Loeb Lorman Site, for area, location and anticipated 
facility design criteria.  

In an attempt to provide the Council with a thorough review and assessment of the existing 
facility HVAC and environmental controls systems, staff reached out to a mechanical contractor 
and consulting firm of Total Mechanical, Inc. Enlisting their help with the evaluation, review and 
assessment of the existing conditions within the current facility campus. Attached with this 
memo the Council will find a detailed evaluation and repair cost estimate pertaining to the 
existing facility environmental controls and HVAC system.  

Also attached to this memorandum is a draft Request for Proposals that, upon approval by the 
City Council, will be distributed to qualified firms and posted on appropriate websites so that 
any interested firm can submit a proposal by the deadline.  



 
 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
The project architectural design and plan bid set preparation is budgeted within the 2023 
Capital Improvement Plan at $100,000. The actual cost of this phase will be determined 
through solicitation of competitive proposals and will come before City Council for approval.  
 
Future site development funds may include property acquisition and repairs to the existing 
facility. Funds for design beyond those budgeted, property acquisition, and/or repairs may be 
drawn from unassigned fund balance, ARPA, or proceeds from future borrowing.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council authorize staff to issue a Request for Proposals for 
architectural design plans and specifications for a new Public Works Operations Facility at the 
existing 700 James Place location to be completed in 2023.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Proposed Design Services Request for Proposal (RFP) for the design, specifications, and bidding 
documents to construct a new Public Works Operations Facility; Fort Atkinson DPW HVAC 
Survey Report 



 

 

 

DRAFT 
CITY OF FORT ATKINSON, WI 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 

PUBLIC WORKS FACILITY DESIGN AND 
CONSTRUCTION PLANS 

 

 
Contact:  

     Tom Williamson 920.563.7771 twilliamson@fortatkinsonwi.gov 

Proposal Deadline: January 27, 2023 at 3PM – email proposals only. 

  

mailto:twilliamson@fortatkinsonwi.gov


1. PROJECT OVERVIEW 

This is a Request for Proposals (RFP) for a detailed Design and Construction Plan for new DPW facility to 
be provided to the City of Fort Atkinson, Wisconsin. The consultant chosen will provide a facility design 
and construction plan for the public works operations center currently located at 700 James Place, Fort 
Atkinson, Wisconsin (see attached aerials).  
 
This location will be expanded through the purchase of land to the east and vacating the road, James 
Place. The need to accommodate not only a facility, but the stormwater treatment, and required 
greenspace on the site is important.  
 
The City has completed a facility study and preliminary conceptual evaluation on the proposed location, 
details and exhibits provided by FTP link, but would like the chosen contractor to consider the necessary 
size, internal elements and arrangement of the site during the design and plan process to ensure the 
new facility will continue to meet the needs of the city for the next 30 years and longer. 
 
We are dedicated to this design effort in 2023. New facility construction is anticipated for 2024 under a 
separate RFP for physical construction and construction oversight services. 
 

2. EXISTING DATA  

The City has uploaded background information that is available here, including a previous facility study 
completed in 2017 and the concept plan completed in 2022. That data can be accessed at this link:  
 (link to be updated prior to distribution) 

REQUIRED SCOPE OF WORK 

The City would like the following elements included in the project: 
a. Two meetings: The first with the City Manager, Department of Public Works, and Parks 

Department, managers to gather input on the current facility and understand the 
growing needs of the city. The second meeting with department staff to gather needs, 
recommendations, and input. 

b. Schematic Design: Working with the information gathered, and provided by the city, 
prepare building floor plans, site plan, and exterior elevations. Plans should illustrate 
spatial and functional relationships of the facility and surrounding site. Exterior 
elevations should illustrate the projected image and proposed materials. Prepare a 
project schedule, with construction cost estimate, and offer options for construction 
types, costs, and any possible alternatives the city may want, or need, to consider. 

c. Design Development: Consideration for construction type, materials, finishes, features, 
and final design considerations should include the structural, mechanical, electrical, and 
plumbing requirements of the building, mechanical system options and suggestions, 
optimal locations, and sizes for the systems. This phase should consider all aspects of 
the building and site design. 



d. Detailed Bidding/Construction Documents: Project manual with specifications should 
be developed and should include requirements for bidding, general conditions, and 
other general provisions as requested by the city. Prepared documents should provide 
the detail required for competitive, comparable bidding of this project. 

e. Bidding/Contract Negotiation: The consultant should be prepared to answer questions, 
prepare addenda, assist in obtaining bids, award, and preparation of the Standard AIA 
Owner-Contractor contracts. The conclusion of this phase should result in an award and 
contracts for construction with a single prime General Contractor. 

 
3. SCHEDULE 

Work is anticipated to commence in February 2023 and should be completed by September 1, 2023. 
Consultants should provide a schedule including major milestones in their proposal. 

4. PROPOSAL FORMAT  
 
Approach to Work – (1 page or less) Your best pitch, what differentiates you from competitors, be 
succinct. 
 
Project Team – (1 page or less) Brief bios of the 2 main staff tasked with interacting with the City on the 
project. 
 
Examples of Work – Provide reports (web links only) from 2 to 3 similar projects of this size and caliber 
for City review. 
 
Scope of Work – (4 pages max.) – Detail a scope among the work areas noted in the required scope of 
work. Outline separately the Deliverables and Assumptions under each of the work areas.  
 
Fee Table – (1 page) Provide a table by scope task with estimated hours by individual. Include billing 
rates and reimbursable costs.  
 
Schedule – Detail the major milestones to be completed in 2023 – This should be a broad overview not a 
detailed schedule and include anticipated bid release, bid letting, and groundbreaking dates. 
 

5. PROPOSAL DEADLINES 
a. Proposal Deadline: January 27, 2023 – 3 PM  
b. Questions asked 1 week prior to the deadline may not be answered. 
c. Email proposals to: twilliamson@fortatkinsonwi.gov 
d. A decision will be emailed to all bidders within 1 week of bid opening.  

 
 
 

mailto:aselle@fortatkinsonwi.net


6. PROPOSAL EVALUATION 

Proposals will be objectively evaluated based upon the submitted materials. Philosophy of the firm 
toward organizing and carrying out the Facilities Study, work and analysis proposed to fit within the 
stated budget will be the most prominent factors.  The City reserves the right to select the firm best 
suited for the work without regard to total proposed design budget submitted.  
 

 

  



EXISTING SITE LAYOUT 

 



 

 
City of Fort Atkinson – DPW 

Municipal Buildings - HVAC Survey Report 
December 1, 2022 

 
 
 
 
Introduction 

TOTAL Mechanical has been hired by City of Fort Atkinson Department of Public Works to provide an HVAC survey 
report of the current system conditions of the (3) heated buildings at 700 James Place Fort Atkinson, WI 53538. The 
intent of this survey is to observe, witness, and create a list of HVAC system conditions. Conditions will be sorted into 
three categories: 

  

• Good Condition – in which the equipment/system is operating as intended, is well kept, and within its published 
useful operating life. Normal minor maintenance would be expected. 

• Fair Condition – in which the equipment/system is operating as designed intended and is at/near its published 
useful operating life by a combination of age/maintenance/usage conditions. Moderate to heavy maintenance 
with repairs would be expected. 

• Poor Condition – in which the equipment/system is either not operating as intended anymore or is beyond its 
useful operating life by a combination of age/maintenance/usage conditions. Replacement would be expected. 

  
Main Building Overview 

The building is broken down into roughly (3) main areas served by different equipment. An itemized list of the 
equipment with pictures, conditions, and suggested budget ranges to maintain/replace the equipment over 2-5 
years is as follows: 
 

• Front office served by a residential furnace for heating & cooling 
 

 
 

o Front office furnace appears to be in fair operating condition, but is in poor design condition. 
Equipment age is near end of life and will require elevated maintenance to maintain operation 
for 2-5 years. Installation does not appear to meet code required outdoor air for breathing 
ventilation and should be considered for improvement. 

▪ Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $500 - $6,500 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $10,000 

 
 



        
 
 
 
 
December 1, 2022        
Fort Atkinson – DPW – Municipal Buildings 
HVAC Survey Report 
Page 2 of 6 
 

• Shop & Garage area served by a gas unit heater, (2) gas radiant tube heaters, a garage general 
ventilation exhaust fan, and a point of use source capture exhaust for vehicles and welding 
 

 
 

o Shop unit heater is in fair condition. Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $250 - $2,500 
 

 
 

o Gas unit heaters are in good condition. Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $150 - $1,000 ea 
 

 
 

o Garage exhaust fan is in fair operating condition, but poor design condition. Operator switch 
controls do not appear to properly operate fan/damper/burner components. Intermediate 
manual use of fan in the occupancy classification of the space is not code compliant.  

▪ Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $250 - $5,000 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $30,000 

o Capture fan (not pictured) is fair condition. Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $300-$5,000 



        
 
 
 
 
December 1, 2022        
Fort Atkinson – DPW – Municipal Buildings 
HVAC Survey Report 
Page 3 of 6 
 

• Break area is served by a residential furnace for heating & cooling 
 

 
 

o Break area furnace appears to be in fair operating condition, but is in poor design condition. 
Equipment age is near end of life and will require elevated maintenance to maintain operation 
for 2-5 years. Installation does not appear to meet code required outdoor air for breathing 
ventilation and should be considered for improvement. 

▪ Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $500 - $7,500 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $10,000 

 
Parks & Rec Building Overview (South Truck Shed) 

The building is broken down into roughly (3) main areas served by different equipment. An itemized list of the 
equipment with pictures, conditions, and suggested budget ranges to maintain/replace the equipment over 2-5 
years is as follows: 
 

• Main garage is served by (2) gas unit heaters, (1) make-up air unit, and (1) exhaust fan 
 

 
 

o Make up air unit is in poor condition and should be considered for replacement. Controls did 
not properly operate fan/damper/burner assemblies or internal component failure exists and 
unit is beyond useful life. 

▪ Budget for immediate replacement = $35,000 
 



        
 
 
 
 
December 1, 2022        
Fort Atkinson – DPW – Municipal Buildings 
HVAC Survey Report 
Page 4 of 6 
 

 
 

o Garage area gas unit heaters are in fair condition and at end of useful life. 
▪ Maintenance to replacement budget range for 2-5 years = $250 - $8,500 ea 

 

 
 

o Garage area exhaust fan is in poor condition and in poor design condition. Operator switch 
controls do not appear to properly operate fan/damper components. Intermediate manual use 
of fan in the occupancy classification of the space is not code compliant.  

▪ Maintenance budget for 2-5 years = $250 - $5,000 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $30,000 

 

• Break area is served by a heating only carrier unit (and has a temporary portable A/C unit through 
window) 
 

 
 



        
 
 
 
 
December 1, 2022        
Fort Atkinson – DPW – Municipal Buildings 
HVAC Survey Report 
Page 5 of 6 
 

o Carrier unit is in poor operating condition and poor design condition. Unit is obsolete, appears 
to have a retrofit gas valve, and may not have proper safety switches for burner control. 
Design does not appear to have proper breathing ventilation air for space occupancy. 

▪ Maintenance to replacement budget range for 2-5 years = $500 - $8,500 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $10,000 

o Portable AC unit (not pictured) is not a permanently affixed asset and was not reviewed. 
 

• Parts shop area is served by a heating only carrier unit (a smog eater and a thru wall manual fan) 
 

 
 

o Carrier unit is in poor operating condition and poor design condition. Unit is obsolete, appears 
to have a retrofit gas valve, and may not have proper safety switches for burner control. 
Design does not appear to have proper breathing ventilation air for space occupancy. 

▪ Maintenance to replacement budget range for 2-5 years = $500 - $8,500 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $10,000 

o Smog eater (not pictured) is not a permanently affixed asset and was not reviewed. 
o Through wall exhaust fan (not pictured) is a residential style fan through wall. Age appeared to 

be in poor condition and would suggest for replacement if fan use is desired = $1,500 
 

North Truck Shed Building Overview 
The building is one large space served by (7) gas unit heaters. Pictures of the equipment with, conditions, and 
suggested budget ranges to maintain/replace the equipment over 2-5 years is as follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 



        
 
 
 
 
December 1, 2022        
Fort Atkinson – DPW – Municipal Buildings 
HVAC Survey Report 
Page 6 of 6 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

o All gas unit heaters are in fair condition. (4) duct drops exist at overhead doors with no 
apparent exhaust fans. Use of space for vehicles requires exhaust by code and should be 
reviewed further for correction. 

▪ Maintenance budget for unit heaters 2-5 years = $250 - $2,500 ea 
▪ Correction of code deficiency budget = $35,000 

 
In summary, the recommended budgets to carry for the following timelines are: 
 
 2-Year Timeline 

• Minimum recommended budget = $40,600 

• Maximum recommended budget = $81,200 

• Recommended budget to correct deficiencies = $135,000 
 

5-Year Timeline 

• Minimum recommended budget = $189,600 

• Maximum recommended budget = $256,500 
 
This report has been created based upon the information supplied, visual inspections only, and the time allotted onsite. It 
is not guaranteed to cover all aspects of the entire system or provide guidance on how to address conditions. Should you 
have any questions, or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me directly at (262) 522-7174, or 
email me at bpatterson@total-mechanical.com 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 
Ben Patterson, P.E. 
Special Projects Manager 

mailto:bpatterson@total-mechanical.com


Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Manager’s Office 
101 N. Main Street 

Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: January 3, 2023 

TO: Fort Atkinson City Council 

FROM:  Tom Williamson, Public Works Superintendent 

RE: Review and possible action relating to an Offer to Purchase the property east 
of the existing Public Works Facility – including tax key numbers 226-0514-
0912-066, 226-0514-0912-067, 226-0514-0912-068, and part of 226-0514-0912-
065 – to accommodate the design and future construction of a new facility 

BACKGROUND 
At the December 6, 2022 City Council meeting, the Council met in closed session to discuss the 
possible purchase of the above-described parcels adjacent to the existing Public Works Facility 
at 700 James Place to accommodate future construction of a new facility. These lands, currently 
owned by 901 Janesville, LLC. Were depicted as part of Public Works Facility Concept Plan for 
the redevelopment of the existing facility.  

DISCUSSION 
After that meeting, the City extended an Offer to Purchase the properties from the property 
owner. That Offer was accepted and is included in this packet. 

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
This offer to purchase, as detailed and included with this memo, includes three parcels of land 
and part of a fourth for the amount of $500,000.00. Staff intends to use General Fund fund 
balance to purchase the property with the intent to reimburse the General Fund through 
proceeds from future borrowing in 2024. Staff will recommend that the City Council adopt a 
resolution solidifying that intent within 18 months of the borrowing. The closing date for the 
land purchase is March 28,2023. 

RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve the Offer to Purchase the properties outlined 
in this memo (including tax key numbers 226-0514-0912-066, 226-0514-0912-067, 226-0514-
0912-068, and part of 226-0514-0912-065) subject to the agreed upon conditions for $500,000, 
to be paid for through the City’s General Fund fund balance and reimbursed through proceeds 
of future General Obligation borrowing.  



 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
Proposed Offer to Purchase Agreement between 901 Janesville, LLC and the City of Fort 
Atkinson, WI; Map of Parcels to be Purchased 



EXHIBIT “A” 

OFFER TO PURCHASE  

 























Agenda
City of Fort Atkinson 

City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director’s 
Office 101 N. Main Street 
Fort Atkinson, WI 53538 

MEMORANDUM 

DATE: January 3, 2023 

TO: City of Fort Atkinson City Council  

FROM:  Michelle Ebbert, City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 

RE: Discussion and possible action relating to Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor 
License 

BACKGROUND 
The number of Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor licenses available to a municipality was 
determined by the Department of Administration in 1997. An increase in the quota of licenses 
available is determined by the increase in population of 500 persons. Since 1997, population 
increases have allowed two additional licenses to be issued as Reserve licenses.  Following the 
2022 preliminary population estimate, staff confirmed with the Department of Revenue that 
the City of Fort Atkinson has an additional Reserve License that can be issued.  

DISCUSSION 
Several local businesses have indicated to staff that they may be interested in a Reserve “Class 
B” Intoxicating Liquor license if one becomes available. On November 1, 2022, staff mailed the 
attached letter to five (5) individuals/businesses that had expressed interest in a “Class B” 
Intoxicating Liquor license for a business/location.  In addition, staff published a notice of the 
available license was published in the Daily Union on November 4th, 2022, and posted on the 
City’s website.  Three applicants submitted the required forms by the November 17th deadline. 

Applicants were required to submit the following information: 
• AT-106 – Original Alcohol Beverage License Retail Application
• AT-103 – Auxiliary Questionnaire
• AT-104 – Schedule for Appointment of Agent by Corporation or Limited Liability

Company
• Federal Identification Number (documentation required confirming the number)
• Wisconsin Seller’s Permit Number (documentation required confirming the number)
• City of Fort Atkinson Reserve License Questionnaire

The three applicants for the available license are (in order of submittal): 
• PaddyShack LLC d/b/a PaddyShack Golf and Gaming Lounge
• Mr Brews Taphouse VIII, LLC d/b/a Mr Brews Taphouse
• Rock River Heritage, Inc d/b/a The Fort Atkinson Club Community Center



 
 

Information from the Reserve License Questionnaire from each applicant is included in 
attached summary, along with all application submittals. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
A Reserve license has a one-time fee of $10,000, which is set by State Statute.  The recipient of 
the license would also be required to pay pro-rated alcohol license fees for the remainder of 
the licensing period.  
 
LICENSE FEES DUE UPON ISSUANCE 

• RESERVE License (one-time fee) $10,000 
• “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor $250.00 (January 4, 2023 – June 30, 2023) 
• Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage $50.00 (January 4, 2023 – June 30, 2023)  

 
ANNUAL RENEWAL AND FEES 

• July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 
• RESERVE “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor $500.00 
• Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage $100.00 
• Publication Fee $30.00 

 
LICENSE COMMITTEE MEETING – DECEMBER 13, 2022 
The three applicants were given an opportunity to present their submission and answer 
questions of the Committee.  
 
Erin and Mitch Patterson discussed their purchase of property located at 201 S. Main Street 
(former Humphrey Floral). Their plan is to open an entertainment venue centered around 
Virtual Golf while engaging night life, special events, family-teen friendly and retail activity. 
They do not intend to be open past 10 pm and will offer a light menu including a soda bar for 
youth. They intend to open their business in the spring of 2023. As this is a proposed business, 
no license is currently held.  
 
Gregg Day, Mark Leach and Kyle Scheffler presented the submission from Mr. Brews Taphouse, 
201 N Main Street. Mr. Brews was originally opened in 2016 under different management.  In 
2019, the management changed hands and remained open. They are currently open 7 days a 
week and may increase hours with the addition of a liquor license. Mr. Brews provides a full 
menu with rotating beverages. They stated, at times, customers will not return or choose to not 
stay once they learn only beer and wine is available. This business currently holds a Class “B” 
Fermented Malt Beverage License and a “Class C” Wine License.  
 
Penny Strom and Jill Kessenich spoke on behalf of the Rock River Heritage d/b/a Fort Atkinson 
Club Community Center, 211 S Water Street E. The club has a membership that supports the 
mission of the organization.  They are open for private and public events. As the Fort Club does 
not hold a current license, they are able to apply for Temporary Licenses (to sell beer and/or 
wine via a cash bar) but are limited to the number of times they can apply in a 12 month period. 



 
 

Special events (wedding, parties) are able to provide and serve their own alcohol and cannot 
operate a cash bar. Fort Club would also be applying for a Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage 
License to sell liquor, wine and beer.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
At the December 13, 2022 License Committee meeting, the Committee recommended the City 
Council approve the Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor License for Mr. Brews Taphouse VIII, 
LLC d/b/a Mr. Brews Taphouse for the licensing period of January 3, 2023 through June 30, 
2023. The motion had carried with a vote of 2-1, Cm. Johnson opposed.  
 
ATTACHMENTS 
November 1, 2022 Reserve Class B Liquor License Letter; Notice of Reserve License Available 
published in the newspaper on November 4, 2022; Applications from PaddyShack LLC d/b/a 
PaddyShack Golf and Gaming Lounge; Letters of Support for PaddyShack from Thomas and 
Coral Becker, Business & Tax Systems, Tricor Insurance and Warm Belly Farm; Mr Brews 
Taphouse VIII, LLC d/b/a Mr Brews Taphouse; Rock River Heritage, Inc d/b/a The Fort Atkinson 
Club Community Center; Reserve Class B License Questionnaire Summary 



CLERK/TREASURER/FINANCE DIRECTOR  
Michelle Ebbert | mebbert@fortatkinsonwi.gov  
 
 
 
November 1, 2022 
 
Re: RESERVE Alcohol License – “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor and Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage 
License (for on-site consumption of alcohol) 
 
The number of Reserve “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor licenses available to a municipality was 
determined by the Department of Administration in 1997. An increase in the quota of licenses 
available is determined by the increase in population of 500 persons. Since 1997, population 
increases have allowed two additional licenses to be issued as Reserve licenses.  Following the 2022 
preliminary population estimate, it is confirmed the City of Fort Atkinson has an additional Reserve 
License that can be applied for and issued.  
 
You are receiving this letter as you have expressed interest in a “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor license 
for your business/location.  Included is information necessary to apply for the Reserve license.  Note 
that multiple parties have expressed interest in a “Class B” License and that the City will have a 
competitive process with the goal of issuing a license for the highest and best use.   
 
REQUIRED APPLICATIONS 

1. AT-106 – Original Alcohol Beverage License Retail Application 
2. AT-103 – Auxiliary Questionnaire 
3. AT-104 – Schedule for Appointment of Agent by Corporation or Limited Liability Company 

Electronic Fillable Applications: https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/alcohol-Home.aspx  
 
ADDITIONAL REQUIRED DOCUMENTS 

1. Federal Identification Number (documentation required confirming the number)   
2. Wisconsin Seller’s Permit Number (documentation required confirming the number) 
3. City of Fort Atkinson Reserve License Questionnaire (attached) 

 
APPLICATION DEADLINE 
Thursday, November 17, 2022 5:00 pm (on or before) 
*Incomplete, illegible applications will not be accepted.  
 
Tentative - LICENSE COMMITTEE APPLICATION REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION 
Tuesday, December 13, 2022 (Time to be determined by number of applications) 
 
Tentative - CITY COUNCIL APPLICATION REVIEW AND LICENSE APPROVAL 
Tuesday December 20, 2022 or Tuesday January 3, 2023 7:00 pm  
Municipal Building Council Chambers, 101 N. Main Street 
 

 
Continued 

 

mailto:mebbert@fortatkinsonwi.gov
https://www.revenue.wi.gov/Pages/Form/alcohol-Home.aspx


Tentative - DATE OF ISSUANCE UPON COUNCIL APPROVAL 
Wednesday December 21, 2022 or Wednesday January 4, 2023   
 
FEES DUE AT TIME OF LICENSE ISSUANCE 

1. RESERVE License (one-time fee) $10,000 
2. “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor $250.00 (January 4, 2023 – June 30, 2023) 
3. Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage $50.00 (January 4, 2023 – June 30, 2023) 

 
ANNUAL RENEWAL AND FEES 

1. July 1, 2023 - June 30, 2024 
2. RESERVE “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor $500.00 
3. Class “B” Fermented Malt Beverage $100.00 
4. Publication Fee $30.00 

 
Please feel free to contact me with any questions regarding the application process. Once all 
interested parties have submitted required documentation, the meeting schedule will be confirmed 
and provided.  
 
Respectfully, 

 
Michelle Ebbert 
City Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director 
City of Fort Atkinson 
920-397-9901 ext. 3200 
 



NOTICE 

The City of Fort Atkinson has a RESERVE “Class B” Intoxicating Liquor License available and is taking 

applications until Thursday November 17, 2022 at 5:00 pm. Required applications include an Original 

Alcohol Beverage License Application, Auxiliary Questionnaire, Schedule for Appointment of Agent, 

Reserve License Questionnaire and documentation confirming Federal Identification Number and 

Wisconsin Seller’s Permit Number.  Additional information is available through the City 

Clerk/Treasurer/Finance Director, Michelle Ebbert, mebbert@fortatkinsonwi.gov, 920-397-9901. 

 

 

mailto:mebbert@fortatkinsonwi.gov






































































































































































Date 
Received

Business/ Applicant
New or 
Existing 
Business

Opened / 
Opening

Current 
Full-Time 

Staff

Current 
Part-Time 

Staff

Hiring 
Addtl 
Staff? 

Yes / No

Number of 
Addtl 
Staff

Menu

Premise:
Previously Licensed

Redevelopment
New Structure

Weekly Hours
Total Hours 

Per Week

Total Seating 
Capacity 
Number

No. 
Interior 
Seating

No. 
Exterior 
Seating

Parking 
Public or Private

No. of Stalls 
Available

Pers Prop Taxes 
2022

Real Estate Taxes 2022
Own or 
Lease 

Premise

11/2/2022
PaddyShack LLC

PaddyShack Golf and Gaming 
Lounge

New 3/20/2023 0 0 Yes
2-3 FT

10-15 PT

Panini, pre-
package, ice 

cream, snacks

Redevel: former
 floral and gift shop

10 a - 10 p
Mon - Sun

84 100 100 Unknown
Public 

Street/Public Lot
30

Prior Owner: $185
Other Bus.: $561
Other Bus.: $306

Prior Owner: $5,695
Other Bus.: $2,490
Other Bus.: $9,066

Own

11/16/2022
Mr Brews Taphouse VIII, LLC

Mr Brews Taphouse
Existing Nov-16 10 10 Yes

3-4 FT
4-7 PT

Apps, Burgers, 
Salads, Sides, 

Beverages

Redevel: 
pre 2016

11 a - 9 p Sun-Thur
11 a - 10 p Fri-Sat

72 115 85 30
Private Shared 

On-site Lot
Not provided $1,580 $83,890 Lease

11/17/2022
Rock River Heritage, Inc
The Fort Atkinson Club 

Community Center
Existing Jan-15 3 6 Yes

1 FT
3 PT

None. 
Catering brought 

in.

Redevel: 
remodel pre 2015

Office: 10-3 M-F
Events: 3-9 F
11 a -12 a Sat
12 p - 9 p Sum

52 225 125 100
Public 

Street/Public Lot
84 $0 $0 Own

CITY OF FORT ATKINSON RESERVE LIQUOR LICENSE QUESTIONNAIRE SUMMARY


	Agenda
	12.14.22 Amended License Committee Minutes
	12.20.22 Council Minutes
	Memo RFP for design of new Public Works Facility 
	Draft RFP Public Works Facility Design and Construction
	DPW HVAC Survey Report

	Memo Offer to Purchase property for DPW facility
	Exhibit "A" Map
	Offer to Purchase

	Memo Reserve "Class B" Intoxicating Liquor License
	November 1, 2022 Reserve Class B Liquor License Letter
	Notice of Reserve License Available
	Paddy Shack Submittal 
	Becker Letter of Support
	Business & Tax Systems Letter of Support
	Tricor Letter of Support
	Warm Belly Farm Letter of Support

	Mr Brews Taphouse Submittal
	Rock River Heritage Submittal
	Reserve Class B License Questionaire Summary




